

. 1.

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY.

(11)

NIAG-D(88)15

「「ない」ので、「ない」のないで、

Ţ

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item		Subject	Page No.
1.	Introduc Activiti	1 - 4	
2.	The Esta	blishment and Work of a NIAG Specialist Group	5 - 7
	2.1 G	eneral Remarks	5
	2.2 F	ormation of a NIAG Specialist Group	6 - 7
	2.2.1 N	IAG	6
	2.2.2 T	he Leader of the Specialist Group	6
	2.2.3 N	IAG	7
3.	The Esta	8 - 15	
	3.1	Procedures	8
	3.2	Advice and Instructions on How to Apply the Procedures	8 - 15
	3.2.1	Establishment of an Exploratory Group	8 - 9
	3.2.2	The Chairman of the Exploratory Group	9 - 10
	3.2.3	The Work of the Exploratory Group	10 - 14
	3.2.3.1	Advice Concerning a Programme of Work with a Timetable	10 - 11
	3.2.3.2	Advice Concerning the Organizational Structure Outlining the Total Number of Man-Months Required	11 - 12
	3.2.3.3	Advice Concerning the Approximate Number of Man-Months each Nation has to Perform	12 - 13
	3.2.3.4	Advice Concerning the Cost Estimate for the Study	13 - 14
	3.2.4	Further Action	14 - 15
4.	Establis	16 - 17	
	4.1 Pro	16	
	4.2 Com	mencement of a Sub-Group's Activity	17
		NATO UNCLASSIFIED	

(11)

NIAG-D(88)15

(111)

•

•

•

.

			Page No.
5.	Pract	ical Advice on the Conduct of a NIAG Study	18 - 32
	5.1	The Objective of a NIAG Study	18 - 19
	5.2	The Nature of a NIAG Study	19
	5.3	The Operating Organization for a NIAG Study	19 - 20
	5.4	Outstanding Difficulties	21 - 26
	5.4.1	Introduction	21
	5.4.2	Communication	21 - 22
	5.4.3	Security Clearances	22
	5.4.4	Classification Guidelines	23
	5.4.5	Modelling and Evaluation	23 - 24
	5.4.6	Final Reports	24 - 25
	5.4.7	Administration of Meetings	25 - 26
	5.5	Official Documentation	26 - 28
	5.5.1	Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST)	26 - 27
	5.5.2	Study and Tasking Request (S & TR)	27
	5.5.3	Threat Documents	27 - 28
	5.6	Study Documentation	28 - 31
	5.6.1	Introduction	28
	5.6.2	The Basic Reference Document (BRD)	28 - 29
	5.6.3	Key Parameters (KP)	29 - 30
	5.6.4	Question and Answer Document (Q & A)	30
	5.6.5	Report Contents List (RCL)	30 - 31
	5.7	Submission and Validation of Claims for Payment	31 - 32

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

(111)

(1v)

Annex A The NIAG Moral Code

.

Annex B Management and Funding of NATO Industrial Advisory Group (NIAG) Prefeasibility Studies (PFS) - AC/259-D/1183

Annex C Checklist for the NIAG Specialist Group

Annex D Checklist for the NIAG Exploratory Group

Annex E Guidance for Typing NIAG Prefeasibility Study Reports





NIAG-D(88)15

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

(1v)

-1--

NIAG-D(88)15

1.

INTRODUCTION - NIAG'S ROLE AND GUIDELINES FOR ITS ACTIVITIES

At its first meeting in February 1967, when reviewing various possible forms of equipment co-operation the Conference of National Armaments Directors (CNAD) recognised that the national armaments industries would be an important source of advice and guidance for the promotion of NATO wide armaments co-operation in research, development and production. As a result of this perception the NATO Industrial Advisory Group was established in 1968 and assigned to CNAD as an advisory body.

The NATO Industrial Advisory Group is a high level consultative and advisory body of senior industrialists of NATO member countries. The objectives of this group are to:

- (a) provide a forum for free exchange of views on the various industrial aspects of NATO armaments questions;
- (b) foster a deeper feeling of international involvement in research, development and production, and seek close, co-operation amongst the industries of member countries;
- (c) encourage the timely and efficient exchange of information between governments and defence industries of the various member countries.

In pursuance of these objectives, the NIAG undertakes tasks either as a result of requests by the CNAD or its Main Armaments Groups or on its own initiative. Whilst the broader dialogue between the NIAG and the CNAD and its Armaments Groups is conducted as part of the main business of the NIAG Plenary group, specific tasks covering technical economic, organizational, management and other relevant aspects are usually entrusted to Sub-Groups.

Since its creation therefore. NIAG has provided suggestions and recommendations in relation to legal, management, economic and technical problems. A major activity of NIAG, however, at the request of CNAD and its Armament Groups is the conduct of Prefeasibility Studies. For this purpose NIAG organizes Sub-Groups composed of technical experts from Industry. The possibility of conflicting interests arising when representatives of different industrial groups were brought together in a prefeasibility study was inmediately recognised and in 1969 the NIAG agreed and adopted a Moral Code for the guidance of members of NIAG Sub-Groups as it was in 1969 and is attached as Annex A to this Guidance Manual.

-2-

NIAG-D(88)15

NIAG members are expected to contribute relevant expertise to serve NATO in working out solutions to the tasks entrusted to NIAG. For the analysis of specific problems NIAG may set up Sub-Groups or Ad Hoc Groups and arrange for experts from NATO Industries to participate in these Groups.

In order to provide a free exchange of views and to seek closer co-operation amongst the NATO industries, contributions from competent experts are to be encouraged on all occasions.

To ensure that the advice which NIAG offers to NATO is comprehensive and unbiassed, it is necessary that no competent effort from Industry is excluded, and that all contributors are bound by the Moral Code which NIAG has adopted. (Annex A)

Furthermore, members of Sub-Groups must agree to serve as representatives of their national industries as a whole. The NIAG is responsible for the distribution of funds approved by NATO for each Study. However, in view of the limitation in funding, it is necessary that funds should be used as economically and efficiently as possible, that work statements for each study should be precise, and that the number of experts be kept to a reasonable figure. Nevertheless, it must be guaranteed that the expertise available throughout NATO will be utilised to the utmost.

The early Sub-Groups constituted a sort of apprenticeship. Gradually more appropriate and therefore recurrent forms of organization emerged. Nevertheless the impression persisted that the formation of Sub-Groups should be more systematic in order to improve the relation between the investment of experts and time and the outcome of the studies. Therefore in June 1983 NIAG finally adopted "Guidelines for the Establishment of NIAG Sub-Groups" Document NIAG-D(83)4(Revised) in order to set out the procedures for the establishment of NIAG Sub-Groups.

However, even CNAD and its Main Armament Groups were confronted with problems. They resulted especially from the number of requests for the execution of a prefeasibility study and the availability of funds. Due to the multitude of requests it was necessary:

(a) to balance the number of studies requested and the available funds;

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-2-

-3-

NIAG-D(88)15

(b) to submit requests for studies only if needs are identified for which solutions neither nationally nor in other CNAD Groups are to be found and for which as many Member States as possible have shown a stated interest and/or for which an industrial effort under NIAG provides an optimal approach.

As a result of a study of these problems by the National Armament Directors' Representatives (NADREPS), the CNAD in September 1986 approved procedures for initiating and conducting NIAG Prefeasibility Studies. The NATO Council endorsed the procedures in November 1986 and tasked the CNAD to implement and update them as appropriate. These procedures are set out in Document AC/259-D/1183 "Management and Funding of NATO Industrial Advisory Group (NIAG) Prefeasibility Studies" which is attached as Annex B to this Manual.

Since the issue of the "Guidelines for the Establishment of NIAG Sub-Groups" in June 1983, experience has shown that the procedures have been modified and are subject to differing interpretations, so that some further clarification is necessary. In particular, the CNAD procedures defined in AC/259-D/1183 (Annex B to this Manual) include early involvement of a NIAG Specialist Group with the Project Group prior to the finalisation of the Outline NATO Staff Target and before the formation of a NIAG Exploratory Group.

The NIAG Planning Committee therefore instructed the Ad Hoc Group on the Armaments Co-operation Improvement Strategy on 21st January 1987 to revise the "Guidelines for the Establishment of NIAG Sub Groups" by further implementing instructions and advice.

This Guidance Manual therefore replaces the "Guidelines for the Establishment of NIAG Sub-Groups" - Document NIAG-D(83)4 - by a revised set of procedures which are consistent with those of the CNAD defined in Document AC/259-D/1183.

Chapter 2 of this Manual defines the procedures for the Establishment and Work of a NIAG Specialist Group. Annex C is a Checklist for a Specialist Group which should be considered and incorporated into its report to NIAG.

Chapter 3 defines the procedures for the Establishment and Work of a NIAG Exploratory Group together with advice on their implementation. Annex D is a checklist for an Exploratory Group which should be considered and incorporated into its report to NIAG.

Chapter 4 defines the procedures for the Establishment of a NIAG Sub-Group.

NIAG-D(88)15

+

-4-

Many practical problems which occur during the work of a Sub-Group are common to all Studies irrespective of their subject matter. In order to help future Sub-Group Members without previous experience of NIAG Studies, practical advice on the conduct of studies has also been prepared and is included in this Manual in Chapter 5.

The results of a study executed by a NIAG Sub-Group are consolidated into a final report which NIAG submits to CNAD and the Project Group concerned. It will be stated in the covering letter that NIAG is awaiting a written communication on the subsequent development of the programme and information about relevant decisions.

-5-

NIAG-D(88)15

2. THE ESTABLISHMENT AND WORK OF A NIAG SPECIALIST GROUP

2.1 General Remarks

The major tasks of a NIAG Specialist Group are:

- (a) to assist the Project Group to determine whether a NIAG Prefeasibility Study is the best possible way to proceed from an Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST) to a NATO Staff Target (NST); and
- (b) in the event that a Prefeasibility Study is recommended the Specialist Group must establish whether the basic data (Threat, ECM environment etc.) is adequate for a Prefeasibility Study to be carried out.

In order to arrive at these decisions the tasks of a Specialist Group will generally consist of:

- assisting a Project Group in the final stages of the elaboration of an Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST);
- (ii) identifying practical alternatives other than a NIAG Prefeasibility Study to satisfy the requirements of an ONST;
- (iii) indicating ways and methods to arrive at the NATO Staff Target.

The expenses incurred by the co-operating industrial experts in the Specialist Group have to be borne by their respective companies.

The tasks will be performed in conjunction with the relevant Project Group. Both Groups will execute them by taking fully into account the stipulations of Document AC/259-D/1183 dated 17th November 1986, which is attached as Annex B to this manual. However, it must be noted that the response to Paras III c) and d) in AC/259-D/1183 regarding the magnitude of the study, estimated schedule, man-years of effort and commencement/duration must be regarded as a preliminary estimate since they will be considered in more detail by a NIAG Exploratory Group which will be responsible for preparing the Proposed Programme of Work, Organizational Structure, Time Schedule and Man-month Estimate for the Study.

NIAG-D(88)15

-6-

- 2.2 Formation of a NIAG Specialist Group
- 2.2.1 <u>NIAG</u>
 - (a) ensures that the ONST and/or an unclassified summary of the ONST has been distributed to the Heads of National NIAG Delegations;
 - (b) designates one of its members, usually its Chairman or Vice Chairman, as Chairman of the Specialist Group;
 - (c) determines the number of experts for the Specialist Group, solicits names from the Heads of National NIAG Delegations and establishes the time and place for the first meeting. The experts should, as far as possible, be selected primarily on the basis of their technical expertise;
 - (d) invites the Group to submit a report on its findings together with the completed checklist (Annex C to this manual) and recommendations for further actions.
- 2.2.2 The Chairman of the Specialist Group
 - (a) sends out invitations for the inaugural meeting of the Specialist Group and for its meeting(s) with the Project Group, taking into account the nominations made by the heads of the national NIAG Delegations involved;
 - (b) will ensure that only nominated experts are admitted to the meetings;
 - (c) will ensure that the provisions of Document AC/259-D/1183 (attached as Appendix B to this manual) are fully considered at the meetings;
 - (d) will inform NIAG whenever an expert fails to participate in a regular way and does not attend meetings without written explanation, with the request to inform the Head of the respective national NIAG Delegation to release the expert and to appoint a substitute;
 - (e) will regularly brief NIAG about all major developments and events especially those involving the risk that the task of the Group is extended or changed or that the Group is prevented from performing it;
 - (f) will submit to NIAG a report on the findings of the Specialist Group including the completed checklist (Annex C) with recommendations for further actions.

-7-

NIAG-D(88)15

いるななないのない がいってい あいろうない かかい いい

しけんないかん などろう やちかちかん あいぼうしかい

「「「我年令」、

e .

マシットン

2.2.3 NIAG

After having examined the report of the Specialist Group will decide whether a Prefeasibility Study is justified. If so, then the Specialist Group may be used as the nucleus of an Exploratory Group.

If it is decided not to proceed into a Prefeasibility Study, then the Specialist Group will be disbanded.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-7-

NIAG-D(88)15

-8-

3. THE ESTABLISHMENT AND WORK OF A NIAG EXPLORATORY GROUP

3.1 Procedures

In the event that NIAG, after having examined the report of the Specialist Group, decides to carry out a Prefeasibility Study, the following procedures will be implemented:

- (a) NIAG establishes an Exploratory Group and invites the Head of each National NIAG Delegation interested in participating in the study to delegate a reasonable number of experts, of whom one shall be spokesman, as members of the Group.
- (b) NIAG designates one of its members usually its Chairman or Vice-Chairman - to act as Chairman of the Exploratory Group.
- (c) The task of this Group is to draw up a programme of work with a timetable, a cost estimate (where applicable), and an organizational structure outlining the total number of man-months required, and approximately how many each nation is to perform reflecting the contribution to the study they are each expected to make.

The resulting proposals will be submitted to NIAG for approval and onward transmission to CNAD, for consideration and acceptance.

After the proposals have been approved by the CNAD, NIAG will establish a Sub-Group.

3.2 Advice and Instructions on How to Apply the Procedures

3.2.1 Establishment of an Exploratory Group

Para 3.1 (a) above states:

'NIAG establishes an Exploratory Group and invites the Head of each National Delegation interested in participating in the study to delegate a reasonable number of experts, of whom one shall be spokesman, as members of the group'.

NIAG-D(88)15

-9-

Advice

- (i) Consideration should be given to the fact that the costs incurred during the Exploratory Phase are not reimbursed by NATO. However, in order to improve the efficiency of the Study itself, it is essential that the planning done by the Exploratory Group is adequate, bearing in mind the practical problems and advice included in Chapter 4 of this manual.
- (ii) The total number of experts to be delegated should exclusively depend on the task involved. The number and expertise of the resulting group should be such that the group is in a position to carry out the task as defined in paragraph 3.1 (c) above without asking for additional assistance from industry.
- (iii) Based on the agreed total number of experts required, NIAG should invite the Heads of National delegations whose industries might have the appropriate technology to nominate a determined number of experts. The experts should, as far as possible, be selected primarily on the basis of their technical expertise. Previous experience of NIAG Prefeasibility Studies together with a full appreciation of the practical problems (see Chapter 5) will be beneficial to the work of the Exploratory Group.
- (iv) The Heads of Delegations should nominate their experts in writing. The corresponding communication should be addressed to NIAG's Chairman and to the Chairman of the Exploratory Group (see the following sub-paragraph 3.2.2 (11)).

3.2.2 The Chairman of the Exploratory Group

Para. 3.1 (b) above states:

'NIAG designates one of its members - usually its Chairman or Vice-Chairman - to act as Chairman of the Exploratory Group'.

Advice

 It might be more appropriate in specific cases for NIAG to appoint one of its members associated with the industrial sector/branch of industry concerned as Chairman.

NIAG-D(88)15

-10-

- (11) The Chairman of the Exploratory Group:
 - (a) sends out invitations for the inaugural meeting of the Exploratory Group, taking into account the nominations made by the Heads of the National NIAG Delegations involved;
 - (b) will ensure that only nominated experts are admitted to the meetings of the Exploratory Group;
 - (c) will inform NIAG, whenever an expert fails to participate in a regular way and does not attend meetings without written explanation, with the request to inform the Head of the respective National NIAG Delegation to release the expert and to appoint a substitute;
 - (d) will ensure that the advice in this Guidance Manual is considered by the Members of the Exploratory Group;
 - (e) will regularly brief NIAG about all major developments and events especially those involving the risk that the task of the Exploratory Group is extended or changed or that the group is prevented from performing it.
- 3.2.3 The Work of the Exploratory Group

Para. 3.1 (c): aboves states:

'The task of this Group is to draw up a programme of work with a timetable, a cost estimate (where applicable), and an organizational structure outlining the total number of man-months required, and approximately how many each nation is to perform reflecting the contribution to the study they are each expected to make'.

3.2.3.1 Advice Concerning a Programme of Work with a Timetable

The elaboration of a programme of work with a timetable requires a well defined ONST and/or any other document on which the Sub-Group will have to rely.

(a) The first task of an Exploratory Group should be to examine if the documents on which the programme of work has to be based correspond to the postulate of clarity and completeness and if the required work stays within the precompetitive area.

- 11-

NIAG-D(88)15

If the work to be carried out during Prefeasibility Study will be affected by assumptions about the Threat, ECM Environment, Target Characteristics etc. it is essential that the Exploratory Group determines whether the information available is adequate for the Study to proceed. If not, the Exploratory Group must recommend any special action required to remedy the situation.

- (b) The programme of work derived from the basic documentation should also include a definition of the tasks of the various sections or study teams.
- (c) The timetable should be drafted in accordance with the presumed progress of the study. Communication and the flow of information between Technical Teams, System Teams, Assessment Teams and the Programme Management Group has been identified as a major practical problem of NIAG Studies.

It is essential that the differences between parallel and sequential activities are recognised together with the delays in communicating information between Teams.

In the case of parallel inter-related activities it is advisable that the appropriate Teams meet simultaneously to avoid additional delays and to ensure that the total information required for the next sequential activity is generated together.

In the case of sequential activities, careful attention to the time delays in communication between teams is necessary to ensure that information from some teams is available for other teams to start or develop their activities.

3.2.3.2 Advice Concerning the Organizational Structure Outlining the Total Number of Man-Months Required

3.2.3.2.1 Organizational Structure

The organizational principles for NIAG Sub-Groups are laid down in Chapter 4 of this Manual. Accordingly, a Sub-Group normally consists of a Steering Committee and various sections or Study Teams. The <u>Steering Committee</u> - including its Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Rapporteur - is appointed by NIAG on the proposal of the Exploratory Group. It is generally composed of the above-mentioned members and one representative per participating country who will act as a National Focal Point.

Its decisions should be taken by persuasion and consensus with minority views recorded.

NIAG-D(88)15

-12-

The number and composition of each Study Team or Section should depend on the tasks as derived from the ONST and the Study and Tasking Request.

The Leader, Deputy Leader and Rapporteur of each Team <u>should be</u> agreed by the members of the team concerned at their inaugural meeting.

However, it has been found useful that the Exploratory Group recommends to NIAG the nationality of the Leader and Deputy Leader for each team.

It is also suggested that the Team Leaders should attend meetings of the Steering Committee in an advisory capacity.

3.2.3.2.2 The Total Number of Man-Months Required

The number of experts required for the Study will be derived from the total effort required (usually expressed in man-months) to carry out the Programme of Work in the timescale as defined in the Study and Tasking Request, consideration of the number of participating Countries and the utilisation of the full technical potential of NATO Industry.

Each year is considered to consist of 11 months because of holiday periods and each month to provide 20 working days.

Example:

With the optimum expertise available it may be estimated that 100 man-months are required to carry out the necessary work. If the time available is 1 year, then the number of experts required would be 100 man-months/11 months (1 year) = 9.09 experts. Thus if the appropriate expertise is available on a full time basis, about 9 experts would be required in order to implement the Study in 1 year.

However, Companies are unlikely to be able to release experts to participate on a full time basis and thus from experience the number of experts required in the above example would be increased by a factor of about three. In addition, there are a number of factors which must also be taken into account, which increase further the number of experts involved. These are:

- (i) The exact expertise required may not be available.
- (11) A larger number of companies of various nations may have to be involved so that the full technical potential which is available within the NATO Nations can be exploited.

-13-

NIAG-D(88)15

ŝ.

(iii) Every nation which possesses the required technical potential should be represented in as many teams as possible.

3.2.3.3 Advice Concerning the Approximate Number of Man-Months each Nation has to Perform

As indicated earlier, the total number of experts participating in the study has to make some allowance for the number of participating Nations and for the need to utilise the full NATO Industrial potential. However, at the start of the work of the Exploratory Group, the allowance which needs to be made is unknown, as is the division of effort between the participating Nations. Since these factors will vary from one Study to another it is impossible to lay down rules to be applied to all Studies.

It is recommended therefore that the following procedure be adopted to determine the approximate number of man-months that each Nation has to perform.

The Exploratory Group estimates the approximate number of experts required as in Section 3.2.3.2.2 assuming that experts will only be available for 30% of their time and allowing some factor for adequate technical National representation.

After the Exploratory Group has agreed the Programme of Work, the Organization for the Study, the Terms of Reference of the Study Teams and the qualifications of the experts required in each Team, Heads of National NIAG Delegations concerned are requested by the Chairman of the Exploratory Group to provide lists of the experts who can be supplied for each Team.

A compilation by the Exploratory Group of the effort offered by each Nation for each Team will immediately show up any major imbalances between Nations and also between the effort which is offered compared with that required for the Study.

The Exploratory Group will then request National Focal Points to consider:

- (a) increasing or decreasing the effort offered by their National Industry; and/or
- (b) redistributing the effort between Teams.

NIAG-D(88)15

-14-

At the following meeting of the Exploratory Group the results of this reconsideration will be discussed and consolidated into a plan showing the number of experts and man-months of effort that each Nation will supply.

3.2.3.4 Advice Concerning the Cost Estimate for the Study

NATO pays experts on the basis of a fixed rate per day of work contributed to a NIAG study including travelling time.

The following is a general guide to the effort reclaimable by each expert and therefore to the cost estimate for the Study.

Total effort reclaimable by each expert is, on average, equal to the number of days at international meetings plus an equivalent number of days of homework plus one day for intra-continental travel or two days for inter-continental travel.

Thus for a Team meeting of 4 days (Monday lunch time to Friday lunch time) each expert may claim, on average, 9 or 10 days of effort depending on whether the meeting is in his own continent or requires travel across the Atlantic Ocean.

No other expenses are claimable.

The submission and validation of man-day claims are dealt with in Section 5.7.

It must be noted that the man-day rate paid by NATO represents about one third of the actual cost of experts' contribution to the Study. The balance is regarded as Industry's contribution to the promotion of co-operation within NATO.

In view of this situation however, it is recommended that the number of meetings is limited to what is absolutely necessary by objective standards.

In any event, the number of useful meetings which can be arranged in a calendar year is constrained to an <u>absolute maximum</u> of 7 or 8 by the time which each expert can devote to the study and the time necessary between meetings to allow exchange of information between teams.

It must also be noted that because of attendance at Programme Management Group Meetings and Steering Committee Meetings, the load on the Leaders of Teams or Sections may be double the contribution of experts who are simply members of Teams or Sections.

-15-

NIAG-D(88)15

3.2.4 Further Action

The Exploratory Group will then submit to NIAG the "Programme of Work, Organizational Structure, Time Schedule and Man-month Estimate" together with the completed Checklist which is included as Annex D for approval and onward transmission to CNAD for consideration and acceptance.

If the NIAG approves the proposals of the Exploratory Group, the NIAG Chairman will request the Heads of each National NIAG Delegation to nominate the agreed number of experts for the future NIAG Sub-Group.

The complete list of members will be sent to the agreed Chairman of the Sub-Group and to the National Focal Points so that the security clearance procedure can be initiated.

Following the final approval by the NADREPs, the proposed NIAG Sub-Group can commence the Prefeasibility Study to the agreed plan.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-15-

N[AG-D(88)15

-16-

- 4. ESTABLISHMENT OF A NIAG SUB-GROUP
- 4.1 <u>Procedures</u>
- 4.1.1 A NIAG Sub-Group shall be set up in accordance with the following principles.
 - (a) The size of the Sub-Group in terms of man-months required and the national allocation of key positions as in sub-para (d) below, are determined by the Exploratory Group as indicated in the proposals approved by NIAG. Its members are nominated by the Heads of the national NIAG delegations.
 - (b) In general, the organization of the Sub-Group consists of a Steering Committee and various sections or study teams.
 - (c) Candidates for the positions of Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Secretary/Rapporteur of the Steering Committee are proposed by the Exploratory Group to NIAG for consideration and election.
 - (d) Holders of key positions in the various teams or sections of the Sub-Group shall be selected by those teams or sections and approved by the Steering Committee in such a way as to achieve a balance between the participating nations.
- 4.1.2 The Chairman of NIAG:
 - (a) Convenes the first meeting of the Sub-Group.
 - (b) Introduces the Chairman, the Vice-Chairman and Secretary/ Rapporteur at that meeting.
 - (c) Explains the provisions of the Moral Code to the Sub-Group and seeks an undertaking that its members will not use the information and knowledge acquired as a result of their membership to obtain unfair advantages over their respective companies' competitors.
 - (d) Relinquishes the chair to the Chairman of the Sub-Group.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-16-

-17-

NIAG-D(88)15

4.1.3 All members of the Sub-Group are bound to inform the leader of their relevant national NIAG delegation in good time should a conflict of interest become apparent. In such a case, the national NIAG delegation concerned is entitled to relieve the member of his duties in the Sub-Group and to appoint a substitute.

4.2 Commencement of a Sub-Group's Activity

- 4.2.1 The approved task of the Sub-Group commences after:
 - (a) approval by NATO; and
 - (b) completion of the formalities set out in Chapters 2 and 3 above.
- 4.2.2 The Chairman of the Sub-Group will be responsible to NIAG for the overall execution of the task. Where problems arise, for which agreed solutions cannot be reached, he will refer the matter to NIAG. Similarly, where agreement cannot be reached in teams or sections, their chairmen will refer the problems upwards.
- 4.2.3 Where applicable, the funds allocated by NATO for the activity are to be distributed among the various participating nations in proportion to the man-months which they perform in accordance with Section 3.2.3.3 above. Subsequent adjustments, approved by NIAG, may be made as required, during the course of the study itself, should the work exceed the forecast.

NIAG-D(88)15

-18-

5. PRACTICAL ADVICE ON THE CONDUCT OF A NIAG STUDY

5.1 The Objective of a NIAG Study

NIAG Sub-Groups are set up to Study a wide range of problems and therefore the detailed objectives will vary from one Sub-Group to another. However, there are certain common features of the majority of studies which need to be accepted and understood. Each Study is requested by one of the Main Armament Groups of NATO. It must be emphasised that the Studies are Prefeasibility Studies and their primary purpose is to provide a consensus of Industrial advice which will assist Governments in their decisions on whether to proceed into further phases of a programme (usually Feasibility Study) or not.

This advice therefore must generally contain three elements:

- (1) a review of the technical options for the way ahead;
- (11) a broad evaluation of technical options to indicate their performance and cost effectiveness when judged against the military requirements as defined in the Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST);
- (111) an indication of the likely costs and durations of future phases of the programme bearing in mind the effects of international collaboration.

There is a natural tendency for the requesting authority to ask for much more. In some cases detailed estimates of reliability, life cycle costs, effects on logistic support systems etc. have been requested.

It is essential that the NIAG Sub-Group restricts itself to those questions which are appropriate to a Prefeasibility Phase.

Requests for work which is more appropriate to later phases of a programme should be rejected by the Exploratory Group when considering the Programme of Work to be carried out during the Study.

It is also important to note that during the conduct of the Study, interaction with the NATO Group requesting the Study may suggest additional items of work for inclusion in the Study Programme.

-19-

NIAG-D(88)15

Particular care should be taken to consider the effect of such suggestions on the cost and timescale of the study before they are accepted.

In the event that additional work is essential, then the NIAG Plenary Committee should be informed in order that appropriate changes to the budget for the Study can be negotiated.

5.2 The Nature of a NIAG Study

By its very nature a NIAG Prefeasibility Study is a gathering of specialists by mutual consent and organized by colleagues who are selected to occupy the positions of responsibility. Their Companies are contributing at least two thirds of the actual costs of participating in the Study.

The assumption must always be that all members are aware of the NIAG Moral Code, are honourable, have integrity, are knowledgeable and supportive.

In such a forum rigid procedures are not appropriate. Decisions will only be agreed and implemented when they are manifestly sound and reasonable.

In particular the suppression of minority views is not admissible. This demands a great deal of skill on the part of a Chairman or Team leader to proceed by persuasion while ensuring that any views which are supported by reasoned arguments are fully reported.

In the end a NIAG Study is not expected to arrive at a single fully optimised option but to explore a range of possible options in order to be able to give the advice which is defined in the preceding section on The Objective of a NIAG Study.

5.3 The Operating Organization for a NIAG Study

The problem of communication within a NIAG Study has been found from experience to be extremely difficult. This is dealt with further in Section 5.4.2. The problem is so severe in practice that it is worth considering every means of simplifying it right from the basic consideration of the study organization.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-19-

N1AG-D(88)15

-20-

Complex organizations tend to demand complex and rapid communications and therefore every attempt should be made to keep the organization as simple as possible. For this reason a "tree" organizational structure rather than a "matrix" structure is to be preferred.

In general a tree structure with no more than three levels -Steering Committee, Programme/Systems Management Group, Technical Teams has been found to be most satisfactory.

The Steering Committee is responsible for the overall policy and direction of the Study. It will usually consist of a Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Rapporteur, a National Representative or Focal Point for each of the participating Nations, the Leaders of the Programme Management Group and the Leaders of the Study Teams acting in an ex officio capacity.

The detailed work of the Study is carried out by a Programme Management Group composed of a Leader, Deputy Leader and Rapporteur together with the Leaders of the Study Teams. In some Studies this has been called a Systems Management Group, but it is essential that its first priority is regarded as the total Management of the Study Programme.

Maintaining adequate monitoring of progress, ensuring that milestones are met, checking that there is adequate communication between teams, are just as essential to the successful completion of the study as the technical and system work.

This implies a heavy responsibility for the Team Leaders whose workload in running a team, participating in the work of the Programme Management Group and attending some meetings of the Steering Committee may be two or three times as heavy as that of a Team Member.

In order to avoid the possibility of the Study becoming biased, it is advisable to ensure that there are no vertical lines through a tree organization which could allow the development of such biases.

Thus in accordance with paragraph 3.2.3.2.1 above, the nationalities of the Leaders and Deputy Leaders of Teams are to be selected in such a way as to achieve a balance between the participating Nations. Once the Nationalities have been decided the Teams should agree their own Officers at their inaugural meetings bearing in mind the recommended Nationalities.

-21-

NIAG-D(88)15

A Team having agreed its own leader (albeit under direction as to preferred Nationality) is responsible for that agreement and is therefore more likely to give the leader the support he will most certainly need.

It is important to recognise that a Leader is an equal among equals. He chairs by consent and needs the willing support of his team.

5.4 Outstanding Difficulties

5.4.1 Introduction

During the course of NIAG Prefeasibility Studies a number of problems have been identified which have caused trouble irrespective of the subject of each study. Many of these difficulties are not easy to anticipate without previous experience.

This section therefore draws attention to some of these problems so that participants in new studies will be aware of difficulties which may occur.

5.4.2 Communication

Communication between teams and both upwards and downwards through the Study Organization has been found to be a severe recurring problem in NIAG Studies.

The difficulties may be separated into two classes - semantic problems and security problems.

In an international study team, time is needed to overcome the semantic problems which exist.

Team members whose native tongue is English should be eternally grateful that the language for team meetings is usually English and should continually ask themselves how much they would really understand if meetings were conducted in another language.

Another feature of the semantics problem is that new concepts are discussed in NIAG Studies and the method of thinking about them is different in each country. There is also the need therefore for some understanding of the way in which thinking, procedures and practices differ from one country to another.

NIAG-D(88)15

-22-

The final result is that to overcome the semantic problems requires time especially in working meetings to allow understanding to be achieved. Although this may extend a working meeting to require a week's duration rather than two or three days, this is preferable to having to repeat work at a subsequent meeting because of inadequate understanding.

The other aspect of communication concerns the transmission of classified documents. Inevitably much of the work of a NIAG Sub-Group produces documents which must be classified. For the efficient progress of the study it is necessary for the output from each team to be communicated to other teams.

Regrettably, the use of the diplomatic channels for transmission of classified documents between Nations has proved to be extremely uncertain as to whether documents arrive at their intended destinations in time for them to be of any use. An average delay of six weeks has been experienced which has extended to many months in some instances.

Hand carriage of classified documents is permitted by some Nations who will issue "Courier Certificates" but not by others.

Clearly within a NIAG Study no member should be put in a position whereby a breach of his Country's Security Regulations may occur. This coupled with the uncertainty and delays of the Official channels presents a dilemma which requires careful planning to surmount.

Maximum use must be made of those members who can act as official couriers, but care must be taken to ensure that they are officially authorized and that arrangements are made for receipt and distribution of classified documents in the country of destination.

5.4.3 <u>Security Clearances</u>

The time necessary to obtain visit clearance for classified meetings must be taken into account in planning meetings.

In addition it must be noted that some Nations are refusing to process individual visit clearances for attendance at NIAG Sub-Group meetings but are operating a "Block clearance procedure".

-23-

NIAG-D(88)15

The block clearance procedure requires that the venues and times for all meetings together with the full details of participants are available to each National Security Organization in time for the full list to be sent through the Official channel to each Nation and Company hosting a meeting.

Even then it is essential for a check to be made with each host Company to ensure that clearance has been received. This should be done in sufficient time for special action to be taken if the block clearance procedure should have failed.

5.4.4 Classification Guidelines

NIAG Studies almost invariably generate classified information.

Generally in all countries the final responsibility for classification lies with the author but this in itself may cause problems because the standard of classification may vary from one country to another.

Classification Guidelines produced by the Sub-Group itself have no authority unless they are endorsed by the appropriate NATO Armament Group.

It is prudent therefore that early in the Study, the Exploratory Group or the Chairman of the Sub-Group obtains Classification Guidelines from the appropriate NATO Armament Group.

It must be noted that in some countries the "NATO Restricted" classification has to be handled in the same way as "NATO Confidential". The use of "NATO Restricted" should therefore be avoided if possible.

5.4.5 Modelling and Evaluation

In the majority of NIAG Studies, some evaluation of future concepts with regard to performance, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness is requested in the Study and Tasking Request or implied in the ONST.

It is natural for enthusiastic experts collaborating in a NIAG Study to assume the use of sophisticated computer models and programmes available in their own Nations. However, the use of such models in NIAG Studies presents many hidden difficulties.

NIAG-D(68)15

-24-

At present, within the terms of the NATO Study Order which is placed on each participating Company, there is no provision for payment other than for the man-days of effort contributed to the Study. Thus the costs of modelling and simulation cannot be recovered by the Companies.

A more significant problem however lies in the fact that many models available in individual countries contain information which is not releaseable to other countries.

When the results from such models agree with one another then no problem is created. If however the results are different then they will create arguments within the Sub-Group which are impossible to resolve.

The use of subjective evaluation methods is also only acceptable if the methodology, input data and results can be agreed unanimously by all relevant study group members.

The situation may become disastrous if the results are used to "rank" a number of proposed concepts or systems, especially if the concepts are specific so that strong feelings of paternity or ownership are involved. In such a case, all of the time, effort and money expended in the modelling will have been wasted and will have done nothing but create argument and dissension which discredits the work of the Sub-Group.

It is prudent therefore to consider carefully at the start of each study what methods will be used for evaluation and assessment and to restrict the use of modelling and simulation to objective models which are generally available, can be fully agreed before they are used, and which produce parametric results which can be used to guide the improvement of generic concepts.

5.4.6 Final Reports

The Final Report from a Team in a NIAG Study is a unique document representing the consensus of expertise which has been brought to bear.

During the course of the Study, each Team's report will have been modified by interaction with other Teams.

-25-

NIAG-D(88)15

At the end of the Study the report will reflect the total work of the leam and the conclusions which have been reached including discussion of alternatives which have not been resolved during the Study.

As such it should be agreed in total by the full membership of the Team.

Regrettably there have been occasions when Team Leaders or final editors have altered team reports after they have been agreed by the full team and without the knowledge of the team members.

This practice is inexcusable since it only discredits the work of the Team and the conclusions of the study. It invariably comes to light at some stage during or after publication of the report.

It has to be accepted that during a Prefeasibility Study there can be honest differences of opinion which can only be resolved during feasibility study or later phases of a programme. Such differences should be discussed openly in the report rather than attempt to suppress individual opinions or alter the final report without the full agreement of the Team.

Similarly, the conclusions of a Programme Management Group may indicate that from a system point of view conclusions may be different from those of an individual sub-system team. In such a case the reasons for the PMG Conclusions should be fully discussed in the PMG Report rather than seek to change a finalised report from a technical team.

A similar methodology should be adopted for the Executive Summary prepared by the Steering Committee. Bearing in mind the limited time-scale of a NIAG Study and the administrative load which is involved at the end of the study in the preparation of a fully agreed camera-clean copy for reproduction and distribution by NATO, it is essential that the Final Report is written as the study proceeds and not left to the end.

The NATO Guidance for Typing NIAG Prefeasibility Study Reports is attached as Annex E.

5.4.7 Administration of Meetings

The administration of each meeting during the Study represents a significant responsibility which should be appreciated by each Company offering to host meetings.

NIAG-D(88)15

-26-

This section outlines the basic facilities which are essential for a meeting of a NIAG Study Team.

- (a) Meetings are normally classified and therefore the venue for the meeting must be cleared to the appropriate Security Classification.
- (b) Team meetings are invariably working meetings to prepare, discuss, copy and distribute classified documents. The host for the meeting must therefore be able to provide facilities for handling classified documents used during the meeting. These facilities will include:
 - Provision of secure overnight storage of classified documents brought to the meeting by members of the Team and which will be taken home by members at the end of the meeting.
 - (ii) Preparation, copying and distribution of classified documents to all authorized team members for use during the meeting.
 - (111) Issue of classified documents at the end of the meeting to those team members who are authorized to carry them away. The authorization is usually a "Courier Certificate" issued by the Government of the individual team member.
 - (iv) Destruction of classified working material which may be generated during the meeting but which is discarded either during or at the end of the meeting.
- (c) The administrative load is particularly heavy for the final meetings of a team during which the Team Report is finalised, agreed by all Team Members and prepared for delivery to NATO as a camera-clean master for duplication and distribution by NATO.

Although there is a NATO Agreement on Security which covers the procedures and conduct of NIAG Prefeasibility Studies, it must be noted that in practice the implementation of security procedures in each of the countries of the NATO Alliance may be widely different.

It is a waste of time and money for members of a study team to arrive at a NIAG Team Meeting only to find that the necessary facilities for handling classified documents are not available.

It may also present those members who are officially carrying classified documents with an almost impossible problem of safeguarding them during the duration of the meeting.

-27-

NIAG-D(88)15

5.5 Official Documentation

5.5.1 Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST)

The ONST is the basic document prepared by the appropriate committee of the NATO Armament Group requesting the study which defines the operational needs for which the prefeasibility study should suggest solutions.

The ONST is usually classified, but is available to all members of the study cleared to the appropriate level.

The ONST or its unclassified summary should be available to the NIAG Specialist Group. Part of the work of the NIAG Specialist Group is to clarify the ONST with the appropriate committee of the NATO Armament Group in order to determine whether a NIAG Prefeasibility Study is necessary.

The ONST is a statement of the military need and will require interpretation by the NIAG Specialist Group and the NIAG Exploratory Group in order to provide a broad requirement specification for the NIAG Study.

During the conduct of the study further clarification may become necessary. For this reason, a Quick Reaction Group from the committee of the NATO Armament Group requesting the study has been found to be extremely helpful in order to provide timely answers to the NIAG Sub-Group's questions.

5.5.2 Study and Tasking Request (S & TR)

This is the formal Request to the NIAG for a NIAG Prefeasibility Study which is prepared by the appropriate committee for the NATO Main Armament Group after consultation with the NIAG Specialist Group.

It will refer to the ONST to define the military requirements but in addition will state particular aspects (such as programme costs, programme timescales, cost-effectiveness trade-offs) which the NIAG Sub-Group is specifically requested to address.

The S & TR is formally responded to by the NIAG Exploratory Group preparing a "Proposed Programme of Work, Organizational Structure, Time Schedule and Man-Month Estimate" for endorsement by the NIAG.

NIAG-D(88)15

-28-

It should be noted that in some cases the S & TR will specify aspects such as effects on logistic support, life cycle costs etc which go beyond the scope of a prefeasibility study. These aspects should be removed by the Exploratory Group.

When the S & TR is finally agreed, all members of the NIAG Sub-Group should be aware of exactly what work the S & TR is asking to be carried out.

5.5.3 Threat Documents

The ONST will normally reference documents which define the military Threat to be assumed for the purpose of the Study.

It must be noted however that the Threat Documents usually describe the Threat in military terms without sufficient technical detail for the purpose of a NIAG Prefeasibility Study. This is especially true of the vulnerability characteristics of targets to attack by different warhead types, ECM conditions, target signatures etc.

In addition the ONST and Threat Documents may cover a very wide range of scenarios for the military usage of the equipment to be studied.

Target signatures and characteristics, detailed effectiveness of warheads and detailed ECM conditions represent particular problems for NIAG Sub-Groups since while adequate data may exist within individual nations, it may not be releasable for NIAG Studies.

The wide range of scenarios also presents a problem since within the timescale and effort limitations of a NIAG Study it will not be possible to explore all of the scenarios.

Thus an adequate allowance of time and effort within the NIAG Study must be incorporated for interpretation of the threat, selection of representative scenarios and agreement of both with the Main Armament Group requesting the Study.

The time and effort required to do this should have been built in to the study programme and estimate prepared by the Exploratory Group, but it is also necessary for the Members of the NIAG Sub-Group to be aware of the problems in this area.

- 29-

NIAG-D(88)15

5.6 Study Documentation

5.6.1 Introduction

.

Experience from a number of NIAG Prefeasibility Studies has suggested that some standard types of documentation are helpful. These are a Basic Reference Document (BRD), a Key Parameters List (KP), Report Contents List (RCL), Question and Answer Document (Q & A) and the Final Report.

With the exception of the Basic Reference Document and the Final Report, none of these documents is mandatory, and each study can decide whether to use them or not. Nevertheless bearing in mind the communication problems which have been referred to in Section 5.4.2, some form of study documentation is necessary and the documents described in this section have stood the test of time and proved their value in a large number of NIAG Sub-Group Studies.

5.6.2 The Basic Reference Document (BRD)

At the start of a NIAG Study, the Exploratory Group is tasked to prepare a Proposed Programme of Work, Organizational Structure, Time Schedule and Man-Month Estimate for the proposed study in response to the Study and Tasking Request.

In preparing this response the Exploratory Group must consider:

- The Work Content of the Study
- The Organizational Structure for the Study
- The Terms of Reference for each team
- The Officers for each team
- The number of members of each team
- The cost estimate for the Study.

This document will have been submitted to the NIAG for endorsement and submission to the NADREPS in order to receive approval that the estimate is acceptable and authority for Study to proceed.

It is essential when the Study commences that all members of the Sub Group are aware of the commitment which has been made.

This is most easily achieved by incorporating all of the above data into a Basic Reference Document (BRD) for the Study.

NIAG-D(88)15

- 30 -

As soon as possible, the BRD can then be expanded to include a fully detailed schedule of meetings including the venues together with full details (names, titles, addresses, telephone, telex and fax numbers, position in the study organization) of all members of the study.

It is the responsibility of the Steering Committee Rapporteur with the assistance of the Team Rapporteurs to prepare, distribute and update the BRD as necessary.

Full lists of meeting venues and details of team members are essential in order to facilitate security clearances.

Classification guidelines should be published in the BRD as soon as they can be agreed with the committee of the Main Armament Group requesting the study, (if they have not already been established by the Exploratory Group).

The BRD is normally an unclassified document.

5.6.3 Key Parameters (KP)

It is essential that all members of the NIAG Sub-Group use the same basic technical parameters as soon as they are determined by the appropriate team.

A convenient way of ensuring this is the preparation, regular updating and prompt distribution of a Key Parameters Document.

Care must be taken to keep the KP Document under control. Provided that it is restricted to essential Key Parameters which are amended and updated as each Team Meeting clarifies the work of the Study, it can be an extremely useful document. Allowed to get out of hand by the inclusion of non-essential data it can become a burden on the Study.

It must be noted that the KP Document will normally be a classified document and the level of classification may increase as the study proceeds. At the end of the study it will probably be as highly classified as any part of the Final Report.

However the KP document is a working document which is not usually published as part of the final report.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

- 30 -

-31-

NIAG-D(88)15

ŗ

1

5.6.4 Question and Answer Document (Q & A)

During the progress of the Study there will be many questions between Teams, with the Programme Management Group and with the Quick Reaction Group.

It is essential that all teams are aware of the answers which are given since this will be a great help in maintaining consistency in the Study and preventing different teams from making different assumptions.

It has been found extremely helpful to record the Questions and Answers in a single document which can be expanded as the study proceeds.

While the maintenance and regular distribution of such a document represents a significant administrative task on the Rapporteurs, many studies have found it to be essential in order that all Teams can proceed on the same assumptions.

Once again the Q & A document is a working document which is not published as such at the end of the Study.

5.6.5 Report Contents List (RCL)

Bearing in mind the time available for a NIAG Study, it is essential that the Final Report is written as the study proceeds and not left to the end.

In order to do this, a Report Contents List (RCL) from each Team, prepared in outline (chapter headings only) at the beginning of the Study has been found extremely useful.

The RCL can be expanded or amended as the Study proceeds but should be finalised as early as possible in the study.

Milestones for the completion of the text for each RCL heading should also be fixed at the beginning of the study so that progress of the study can be monitored as the milestones are reached.

Distribution of the RCL from each Team to all other Teams, the Programme Management Group and to the Steering Committee together with amendments as the study proceeds has been found to be extremely helpful in ensuring that the Final Report as a whole is complete, compatible, and that all important aspects of the Outline NATO Staff Target and the Study and Tasking Request are adequately addressed. The Report Contents List is a working document. There is usually no
NIAG-D(88)15

-32-

need for it to be classified or to be published at the end of the Study.

5.7 <u>Submission and Validation of Claims for Payment</u>

The Company of each expert participating in a Sub-Group will be required to sign a NATO Study Order for the effort to be supplied to the Study.

The Study Order provides for payment at a maximum rate in Belgian francs per man-month of effort supplied. A man-month of effort is equivalent to 20 man-days.

Companies who are willing to participate in the Study but to forego payment are still required to sign the Study Order and inform NATO in writing of their decision not to claim for payment.

Companies who do not return the signed Study Order to NATO cannot be paid for participation in a Study.

NATO procedures require that claims for payment of effort supplied to a NIAG Sub-Group must be settled within six months of the end of the study.

The standard form for claiming is attached as Annex F. It will be seen that this form requires a statement by each Sub-Group member of the number of man-days of effort which have been supplied (see also section 3.2.3.4).

The claim is made at the standard rate (Belgian francs per man-day of effort) as stated in the Study Order.

The claim must be certified by an authorized representative of the expert's Company.

The claims should be collated for each team by the team's Rapporteur and validated by the Leader or Chairman of the team.

The claim forms from each Nation involved in the Study should then be sent to the National Focal Point of that Nation.

Finally the claims are collated by the Rapporteur of the Steering Committee and submitted by the Sub-Group Chairman to NATO.

•

- 33-

NIAG-D(88)15

いいではないからし、ははななるのないはないないのでのない、この時代に、ためのためななななななないで、ないないでしたのでは、このになっていたいというに、

.

1

de la

In the event that the total of the claims submitted exceeds the budget available for the Study, the Steering Committee should consider what action to take to reduce the total claim. In general, the fairest method is to reduce the claim from each member of the Sub-Group pro rata.

If the total of claims for the Study is less than the budget, the standard rate per man-day cannot be increased.

Following receipt of the certified and validated claim forms, NATO will request Companies to submit invoices for payment of the agreed amounts.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-33-

-1-

ANNEX A to NIAG-D(88)15

NATO INDUSTRIAL ADVISORY GROUP

MORAL CODE

At its plenary meeting on 29th April 1969 the NIAG accepted the principle of a "Moral Code" as described in a paper presented by its first Chairman (Dr. Tromp) in document NIAG(69)D/9. The provisions of this Moral Code are as outlined below:

2. Members of NIAG are either representatives of industrial groups or even have direct interests in industrial enterprises themselves. This implies that "conflicting interests" might arise when they participate in the practical work of NIAG, particularly in connection with NIAG Prefeasibility Studies.

3. It is vitally important for the proper functioning of NIAG that all members should take the position that confidential information provided at NIAG meetings or in connection with NIAG activities should not be used to obtain unfair advantages over competitors, and that information provided on the activities of certain industries in particular member countries should be treated in the strictest confidence.

4. It is, of course, clear that no-one can be expected to forget what he has seen or heard, but what one can expect is that all NIAG members, without exception adopt a very strict moral attitude and do not take advantage of the privileged position in which they find themselves.

-1-

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

AC/259-D/1183

CONFERENCE OF NATIONAL ARMAMENTS DIRECTORS

MANAGEMENT AND FUNDING OF NATO INDUSTRIAL ADVISORY CROUP (NIAG) PREFEASIBILITY STUDIES (PFS)

I. INTRODUCTION

The NATO Industrial Advisory Group (NIAG) is a consultative and advisory body of senior industrialists of NATO member countries that provide a forum for free exchange of views on various industrial aspects of NATO armaments co-operation to foster a deeper feeling of international involvement in research, development, and production and closer co-operation among the industries of member countries and to encourage exchange of information between governments and defence industries.

2. The NIAG responsibility is to provide industrial advice to the Conference of National Armaments Directors (CNAD). The NIAG primary contribution to the NATO process of armaments co-operation is by means of studies to determine whether or not the outline NATO staff target (ONST) merits a deeper feasibility study. These PFS (Annex I), whether done by NIAG or by other means, are an important initial step in the process of armaments co-operation as they provide the basis for the national decision process by making a broad assessment of the practical attainable alternatives.

3. The NIAG has agreed to perform these studies requested by CNAD and to assume the major portion (approximately two thirds) of their cost as the NIAG contribution for the promotion of industrial comperation within NATO and for the harmonization of weapon systems and their logistical support. The SIAG effort is limited only by the value nations place on the studies and their resultant potential for further armaments comperation and the finite NATO funding available.

4. This document sets forth obligatory management procedures for use by all elements of CNAD in the management of NIAG studies. These procedures are designed to make optimum use of NIAG resources in contributing to armaments co-operative goals.

5. The process commences with a deterministion, by the applicable project group working with the NIAG, of the best way to proceed to the NATO staff target (NGF) milestones. If it is decided that a NIAG PFS is the best way to proceed, the project group will formally request NIAG belp to define the study, its aim, and the effort required.

(c) The Sational Armanents Ofrectors' Representatives (NADREPS), tasked by the CNAD, will, on a fixed annual cycle, receive all requests for NIAG studies, their relative priority, and a bound protection for tubure sturlies from the CNAD annuar oper. The NADREPS will be be tables high.

NATO UNCLASSIETED

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

-2-

priority studies able to be accomplished within the NIAC annual operating budget (civil) and submit the annual programme to the Council via the Civil Budget Committee for final approval.

7. **PFS's** requested by the main groups and recommended to be performed by NIAG but not able to be funded within the annual NIAG budget, will be identified for CNAD action. The CNAD may choose to postpone these studies to later timeframe, seek national support and increased funds for the civil budget to perform the studies, cancel the study requirements, or direct that they be accomplished by other means.

II. DETERMINATION OF STUDY METHODOLOGY

8. Early interaction between the project group developing the ONST and a NIAG specialist group will facilitate the identification of practical alternatives to satisfy the ONST requirements and the most efficient method to arrive at the NST. The project group chairman should request, via the respective main group, that NIAG form a specialist group to work with the project group. This request should take place during the final stages of ONST development and NIAG advice should be sought prior to tinalization of the ONST.

9. To ensure NATO industry is fully informed of the ongoing work in the CNAD committees, the project groups will prepare an unclassified document outlining the ONST requirements. To be of maximum value to industry, this unclassified summary should be prepared as early in the PAPS process as possible, but not later than final ONST approval.

10. The PAPS manual provides guidance on suggested ways to identify possible equipment/system solutions to meet the ONST requirements and to develop the NST. This guidance and additional suggestions (Annex II) provides for a NIAG PFS as only one of several possibilities.

11. In determining the optimum method of study, the project group, in conjunction with the NIAG specialist group, should consider all the alternatives (Annex II) plus performing the Annex III considerations on using NIAG to conduct the PFS.

11 TAG PREFEASIBILITY STUDY PLANNING

12. If the project group, in conjunction with the specialist group, determines that a MIAG study is required, the project group, again in conjunction with the MIAG specialist group, will prepare a study request and subsit it to their main armaments group. The study request should provide the following:

 (i) type of study to be performed by NIAG; i.e. full-scale PFS or lesser effort;

NATO <u>UNCLASSIFIED</u>

-3-

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

- (b) parameters and task of the study;
- (c) mignitude of the study, including estimated schedule, man-years of effort, etc;
- (d) study commencement date/duration;
- (a) any other information needed by industry to perform the study.

1). It is the responsibility of the project group, working in conjunction with NIAG, to ensure the proposed study effort is consistent with the task required. The project group should be aware of the overall funding and resource constraints facing NIAG, using the most recent 5-year forecast, and ensure the study effort is sized accordingly.

IV. ESTABLISHING AND PRIORITIZING THE NIAG WORK PROGRAMME

14. Given the authority to manage the NIAG study programme, the NADREPs have the responsibility to ensure that the most appropriate studies are conducted within the current and foreseeable NIAG budget allocations (cash credits and contract authority). These studies should have notional support and a likelihood of adoption.

15. On a yearly basis, in January, to satisfy the annual civil budget cycle, the main groups will consolidate their studies scheduled to commence the following year and submit this listing, details of the studies as provided by the project groups, and a 4-year study projection to the NADREPs. The main groups will prioritize all studies desired to commence the following budget year, along with their prioritization rationals. They should also be prepared to offer alternatives to a full-scale NIAG PFS.

16. The International Staff will consolidate these study requests and promote an iterative process between the International Staff, the main armaments/project groups, and the NIAG to attempt to accommodate as many requests for NIAG assistance as possible within the budget year's available funds. They will consolidate all main armaments groups' candidates and prepare a proposed work programme for NADREPs' approval, including a recommended ranking list of all studies to be funded.

- 17. This irenative process may involve:
- (i) a remember (reduction) of the WIAG proposed level of efforts;
- the study of the sourcement of contrain studies;
- (c) superious that the project/min group consider alternative actions of conducting certain studies.

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

-4-

18. The NADREPs will review the International Staff input and select, based on Annex IV criteria and direction from capitals, those high priority studies able to be funded within the NIAG yearly budget.

19. The NADREPa will advise the CNAD of all unfunded studies, along with a recommendation on whether to request additional funding, to delay initiation of the NIAG study, or to accomplish the study by other means.

V. PFS INITIATION

20. Upon NADREP approval of the studies scheduled to commence the following year, the applicable project groups will prepare tasking requests that formally request NIAG to undertake the studies. The tasking request will expand on the earlier submitted study request and, along with the ONST, will provide all the information required for NIAG to conduct the study.

21. To assist the completion of the tasking request, the project group will formally request NIAG to form an exploratory group to work with the project group in preparing the tasking request. The exploratory group will then develop its proposed organization, management plan, and study timetable.

22. Studies will be initiated following Council approval of the civil budget in December of each year. However, on studies to be performed on high priority projects, NADREPs can authorize NIAG to commence if they are ensured that the costs of such projects will fall within the established budget and the contract authority approved by the Civil Budget Committee is sufficient.

VI. RESOURCES

23. The NADREPs will ensure that fiscal responsibility is observed by requiring that industry is reimbursed in full for its work within six months of the submission of the study final report. Interim payments may also be made.

24. NIAG PFS will be funded based on a fixed man-day rate, to be determined by NADREPs. Consistent with available resources, funding will also be provided for other types of studies conducted by NIAG.

VII.ANNUAL PROCEDURES

25. CNAD activities in the process of the establishment of study sethodulogy and in the execution of NIAG PFS are set forth in Annex V.

26. Approval of the NIAG work programme will be on a yearly planning syrle as outlined in Annex VI. The CNAD schedule is based on the December Council approval of the NATO civil budget.

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

いたいうちょうないないではないないできょうといういろのであってい

うちの あまちをかえるのか ちょうろう いいしょういれ ひとうちょ

7. .

4.

ANNEX 1 to AC/259-D/1183

PREFEASIBILITY STUDIES

1. The PAPS Handbook (AC/259-D/901) defines a PFS as a study to indicate whether or not the Outline NATO Staff Target (ONST) merits a deeper feasibility Study (FS). It is conducted either by industry and/or government agencies or by the NIAG. Its aim is to examine the proposal, assess the trade-off points, and make a broad assessment of the practicable alternatives and also the penalties involved in adopting certain courses of action.

2. The PFS is based on an ONST, which is a very broad outline of the function and desired performances of a new weapon or equipment. The ONST contains operational characteristics, details of the threat, desired capability, and a general indication of scope and broad cost parameters.

3. The PFS will result in the establishment of NATO Staff Target (NST), which is a broad outline of the function and desired performance of new equipment or weapons system(s), before the feasibility or method of meeting the requirement or other implications have been fully assessed.

4. PFS provide a necessary and valuable contribution to the process of armaments co-operation as it forms the basis of national decisions on possible future collaboration as well as proposals for the next phase and proposals for future industrial co-operation (teaming arrangements and possible feasibility study organization). The industrial interaction resulting from the NIAG study work also provides a valuable side benefit.

5. In addition to PFS defined by the PAPS process, NIAG studies can take the form of studies requested by the main groups that support specific armaments co-operation objectives and studies commissioned by CNAD/NADREPs to provide industrial advice.

ANSEX B to NIAG-D(88-15 -6-

ANNEX II to AC/259-D/1183

DEVELOPMENT OF AN NST

The project group, assisted by the NIAC specialist group, could:

- (a) agree that enough studies have already been completed to permit a selection of the best alternative(s) studies. In this case, the NST can be developed without further study;
- (b) agree to use ongoing national studies (supplemented by additional national studies as needed) or the project group could decide that totally new national studies are needed before it can agree on the best alternative(s) for the follow-on phase;
- (c) decide to commission joint or collaborative PFS and share the costs and other responsibilities in some agreed manner;
- (d) decide to request that PFS be conducted by the NIAG;
- (e) decide to request a study or series of specific lesser magnitude studies can be conducted by NIAG;
- (f) request NIAG provide answers to specific questions;
- (g) decide on some other option that combines elements of the above options for the conduct of PFS.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-6-

-7-

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

ANNEX 111 to AC/259-D/1183

CONSIDERATIONS ON USING NIAG TO CONDUCT PFS

1. There are several methods for the project group to use in developing the NST (Annex 11). The project group, in consultation with the NIAG specialist group, is responsible to determine the optimum way ahead. In reaching this decision, the project group should consider the following advantages and limitations of NIAG conducting the study as well as the justification criteria developed to focus the decision process.

- 2. Advantages
- (a) NIAG PFS occur early in the life of a weapon system, at a time when countries are not ready generally to fund them on an ad hoc basis;
- (b) all countries of the Alliance (government and industry) benefit irom these studies. Moreover, carrying them out jointly at an early stage might minimize duplication of effort or separate national studies which would make future co-operation more difficult to achieve;
- (*) NIAG studies draw on the knowledge of all of the NATO industries as opposed to national only studies;
- (d) SATO pays for only a portion of the actual study effort. Industry absorbs approximately two-thirds of the costs;
- (e) the NIAG method of work, which excludes computition, can facilitate the setting up of future industrial arrangements;
- (r) the industrial interaction that takes place during the studies provides a foundation for an improved armaments comperation atmosphere within the Alliance.
- 3. Limitations
- (a) There is a limited NATO budget available to fund NIAG PES;
- (b) near term studies tend to force industry into a competitive distriction and, as a result, objectivity may be lost;
- () difficulties are associated with the transmission and bandling of lassified data;
- (d) there may be some limitation on the abaring of a company's proprietary information. However, sharing is normally sufficient to a coupling the Physiophysic type;

ANNEX B to NYAG-D(88)15

-8-

- 4. Justificaton Criteria
- (a) What to study.
 - (1) Is the nature and magnitude of the study appropriate to be conducted by NIAG?
 - (2) What key financial, technical, or legal problems must be overcome in order for nations to agree to conduct feasibility studies?
 - (3) What interest has been shown in the PFS by nations and which nations would be interested in progressing into the following stage, given the positive outcome of the study results?
 - (4) Is sufficient funding available for the conduct of the study or are the firms willing to absorb part or all of the costs?
- (b) Why study?
 - (1) Have these problems not been examined by either national, multinational, or international groups in the past?
 - (2) Are on-going or recent national or multinational studies adequate or releasable?
 - (3) Has technology moved to the point that an update of the results of past studies is necessary?
 - (4) is there some reason that a study is necessary to gain confidence to move to the feasibility phase?
- (c) Why MIAG?
 - (1) Is a participating nation willing to act as a pilot nation to process the ONST through to an NST obviating the need for a NIAG study?
 - (2) Are national studies or funds simply not available within the timetrame necessary to meet the mission need?
 - (i) Is an independent view required to check against the results of other studies conducted by other bodies from a different perspective?
 - (*) Is SIAG willing to carry out the study and capable of doing a good jub?

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-9-

ANNEX B to NIAG-D(88)15

and the second strength and the second second second

とうな

10.5

うちんぼとんいう

(d) Why now?

- (1) When is the operational capability required by the military?
- (2) What is the priority of the PFS and how does it rank relative to the overal objectives of armaments co-operation within CNAD or the main groups?
- (e) What results are expected?
 - (1) Has the study been appropriately scoped such that the objective can be achieved?
 - (2) Will this study result in agreement by nations to conduct feasibility studies?
 - (3) What are the implementation plans beyond this study to assure both industry and government participants that the study once completed will have some effect on the project?

(f) Other Considerations

- (1) Are there any restrictuions, government or others, that may limit the study?
- (2) Would NIAG study duplicate ongoing national studies?

ANNEX B to NTAG-D(88)15

-10-

ANNEX IV to AC/259-D/1183

PRIORITIZATION CRITERIA FOR THE SELECTION OF NIAG PREFEASIBILITY STUDIES

1. NATO urgency and commonality of the established military need (assumes a mission need has been established and recognized by nations). Does the study address a NATO critical deficiency?

2. Nations are interested in co-operation and a good overall multinational basis (military, technological, and economic) exists for mutually beneficial co-operation and the achievement of RSI.

3. The potential system has a high expected payoff (i.e., a good probability of achieving stated military requirements within available technology and economic constraints) and the likelihood of adoption by NATO nations.

4. An ONST has been finalized in sufficient detail to form the basis of a PFS and has received national approval. In the case of large studies, a project group also needs to have been established.

5. NIAG has evaluated the proposed study, expressed a willingness in doing the study, and is well qualified to do so.

6. Proposed study is balanced with other studies within the responsibilities of each main group; the overall balancing of all main group requests being the responsibility of the CNAD/NADREPs.

7. Relative cost of studies being considered.

8. Resulting industrial interaction.

9. Does the proposed study support the development of an NST?

10. National support for the prefeasibility studies and expectation for follow-on support and work.

INATOZA UNICILASSIFFED

100 C

\$

いたとう

C/259-D/

ACTIVITIES Ding AL

PAPS PHASE		NECI CHOIP	and two NIAS STAT	MAIN GROUP		MACHEPS	INTERNATIONAL STAFF
	cialist an and to MA atmusy of 1	G Industrial difference gast. Angust and G an ursiamsified the OSI				The rote of planet chains false and study statis of anging process on devel resimery distance in the state of the state is the state of the state of the state of the state is the state of the state of the state of the state is the state of the state of the state of the state of the state is the state of	And a second provide the second
	Links sevies develop roll or alterret.	HUG Specia m OGI, and <u>ar</u> had for study, ive subtath; there at end th	Incien est biblies of - ite specialiste	niff Stauffferen ebi ver abare febereter areit finderfeste eine		(1869), and a second (1969), and a second second (1969), and a second second (1968), and (1968), a	
3.0		If HAC Study		in the second se			Oring proved upter
		NEC. Colability envention of effort. Surd request to enjoy graph	fallen melletites offer	Evaluate Study request (see criterie of Armen III and IV). Arview and prioritize hall programs PTS in jute arve of respirat-			Art as a feed point in op- activating iterative means batem Man Grages Project Grap and MAG
		lipen study sported, re- genet stat nuk exploratory amp (CC) Propose laster ang regent	Catabilità Explanitary Prus Ceptoritary Cristo 12 divelto prisund	billly. Scholt repart to NGEPs through 15		Arries tain grace sequete Priorities Aprove studies come- lart, with evaluate	- Provent Background & Article MCDOV analysis of the constant appendix of the constant appendix of the class of the constant of the constant of the constant of the class of the constant of the constant of the constant of the class of the constant of the
	and a second state of the second state	with HEL Ferrelion of grap grap	organization FGL plan and transform share contractorigates share form adversign to			Advice OVD of unfinded	Arresp cartracts for the f
		Proventation of result of dusty. Propress For foil law-on, f report to thein Graps	perform slugy Approval of Study result	Paries study minife	-	gala (tana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang	Abdrastriting apport to MAC Sab-Gragi
			Evolution of all- grap report pro- pools for further action, Report to CMD			·. · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Properation of all madered deconvolution for industing generation
iGJ	-	firmi Divelap- nurt of NSI					Outh on second Hills



N	A	T	0	•	U	N	C	L	A	S	S	1	F	I	E	D
-					_			1000				_	_		_	



÷ •

X.

-12-

ANNUAL PROCESS

ANNEL VI 10 AC/259-0/1103

TO ESTABLISH NEAT YEAR NIAG PREFEASIBILITY STUDY BUDGETS AND S-YEAR FORECAST

	MAIN GROUPS	MADREPS	CNAD	INTERNATIONAL STAFF	CIVIL BUDGET
				Defence Support. Division	(Supported by 15 Office of Herespeert)
390 	Principan Coldings			Forecast of yearly anasta on NIAG Prefeasibility Buight to Office of Hangment	
	nend for rend tadipt year and 6-year forecast. Federal to HOEP's Wound to Hoerestorni Staff.	Study correctionari texturt for rent year and a-year forecast. Priorstave		Aunspie budget sife for rest year and 5-year forecast site compli- dated forecast. Indicate bud- getary consequences and problem. Subst to MUEPs	· · ·
i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		teend on exailable resources. Apprive studies to be funded. Submit unfurched requirements for OHD action 9	Decide on disposition of unfunded study requestor - sale additional funds meniable	*	
*	1999 - 19		- palpre - do study by other - to study by other		Evolution of extended amounts of rent year's bud- get proximals and 5-year forecast
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Subsit accepted proximal for next year and 4-year forecast to Office of Maregment for their propura- tion of the evaluation in Civil Budget Comettee	
יאני ⁻ 				¥	
34 1872 -	Unite budget, year, phis is-year, forecasts ; dat ing main arministic rynug ment is ye				
	da te			tistic cousts dated 5-year fore-	Evaluate the pressed ViAG burget a part of the total civil habit actuates to Courcil for agroval in Daranter, Act or OAD
		Noise united (simula and making balant year planning (of maximal) within projected funding		Ψ.	requests for additional field- ing
			At air sy NDLP regente T		
Ĩ	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				¥
ðr ·					
	ing and we of at we	NATO	<u> </u>		<u> </u>

NATO UNCLASSIFIED



£

「「「「「「「」」

್ಷಾದ್ರಿ ಕೊರ್ಧೆ ಕೊಂಡಿದ್ದು.

-1-

ANNEX C to NIAG-D(88)15

こうがないないできったいない

2

۰.

.....

Checklist for the Specialist Group

The completed checklist should be submitted to the NIAG with the report of the Specialist Group.

- 1. How many meetings have been held with the appropriate Committee of the Main Armament Group?
- 2. Are all members of the Specialist Group familiar with the NIAG Guidance Manual?
- 3. Is the ONST adequate for a NIAG Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Sections 2.1, 2.2 and 5.5).
- 4. Is the Threat adequately defined for a NIAG Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Section 5.5.3).
- 5. Are there any alternatives to a NIAG Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Sections 2.1, 2.2 and Annex B).
- 6. Why is a NIAG Prefeasibility Study recommended? (Refer to Annex B).

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-1-

-1-

ANNEX D to NIAG-D(88)15

あったり、ことも

The second will

CHECKLIST FOR THE EXPLORATORY GROUP

The completed Checklist should be submitted to the NIAG with the proposed Programme and Estimate for the Study. (Reference to Chapter on Work of Ex.Gp).

- 1. How many meetings of the Exploratory Group have been held?
- 2. Are all members of the Exploratory Group familiar with the NIAG Guidance Manual?
- 3. How many members of the Exploratory Group have participated in previous NIAG Studies?
- 4. Is the ONST adequate for a Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Sections 4.1, 5.5.1 and Annex C).
- 5. Is the Study and Tasking Request adequate for a Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Sections 4.1, 5.5.2 and Annex C).
- 6. Is the Study and Tasking Request confined to activities suitable for Prefeasibility Study? (Refer to Sections 5.5.2 and Annex C).
- 7. Are all characteristics of the Threat adequately defined for the proposed Prefeasibility Study or will clarification be necessary during the Study? (Refer to Section 5.5.3).
- 8. Has the organization and schedule of work planned for the Study taken account of the known difficulties and delays in communicating between Teams? (Refer to Section 5.4.2).

ANNEX D to NIAG-D(88)15

- 9. Does the total effort estimated for the Study and the national contributions represent a good compromise between keeping the manning of the proposed Sub-Group as small as possible and yet utilising the full potential of NATO Industry? (Refer to Section 3.2.1).
- 10. Do the number and frequency of Team Meetings planned for the Sub-Group Study represent a realistic and acceptable level of effort for the Members and especially Team Leaders to maintain?
- 11. Do participating Companies recognise and accept that NATO reimbursement for the Study will represent only about one third of the full cost?
- 12. Have the Heads of National NIAG Delegation nominated Team Members for the Study and is a complete Membership List available?
- 13. Has the meetings schedule for all Teams in the Study taken into account the necessary flow of information between teams and the possible need for iteration?
- 14. Is a full meeting schedule available?
- 15. Following approval for the Study to proceed is there adequate time for security clearances to be processed before the schedule of meetings commences? (Refer to Section 5.4.3).
- 16. Have all Team Members received copies of the NIAG Guidance Manual?
- Have Classification Guidelines been agreed with the appropriate committee to the NATO Main Armament Group requesting the Study? (Refer to Section 5.4.4).

-1-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

OUIDANCE FOR TYPING WE A PREFEASIBILITY IT TY REPORTS

Originators of NIAG Prefeasibility Study Reports are invited to note the following guidance for the layout of documents to be prepared for offset reproduction in NATO.

General

1. All documents should normally be typed on non-headed white A.4 paper.

2. All texts should go no further than 4 cm. from the bottom edge of the A.4 paper so that the classification need go no lower than 3 cm. from the bottom edge.

Please see attached specimens for practical clarification of the layout rules.

Cover Para

For the cover page and/or first page, enough room should be left for the NATO heading, i.e. the classification should be centred at least 7 cm. from the top edge of the paper.

Cover pages to <u>NOT</u> get a page number at <u>THE TOP</u>, only at the bottom of the page; <u>except</u> when NATO, 1110 Brussels is typed on this page.

NATO, 1110 Brussels.: is typed only on the cover page on the <u>left-hand</u> side, 5 cms. from the bottom of the page.

Following Pages

Following pages start on a <u>Verso page</u>, <u>UNLESS</u> <u>OTHERVISE INSTRUCTED</u>.

On <u>RECTO</u> pages the text should leave at least 2 cm. of lefthand margin and at least 1 cm. of righthand margin. On <u>VERSO</u> pages the lefthand margin should be at least 1 cm. wide and the righthand margin should be at least 2 cm. wide.

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-2-

AIRFEXES AND APPENDICES TO DOCUMENTS

Each Annex starts with a <u>Secto</u> page. <u>Start again</u> with page number 1.

2. Roman figures or capital letters for Annexes, e.g.:

<u> </u>	11 10	etc. or		
11.1-0(32.3		_	- 1-2-2	
23) - 1 23) - 1	40 14 (- 23)-	-1-1		

3. An Appendix starts <u>either</u> on a Recto <u>or</u> a Verso page, depending on the last page of the Annex, but continue with the page numbering; e.g. if your Annex has 5 pages, the first page of the Appendix will get number ć.

4. Arabic figures for Appendices, e.g.:

APPENDIX 1 to	APPENDIX 2 to
AINEX II to	ANNEX II to
<u>NI 6- + 3213</u>	NI(G-7(62)3

CLASSIFICATIONS

1. On both RECTO and VERSO pages the classification and ensuing text should begin at approximately 3 cm. from the top edge of the paper. From the top classification drop 4 lines for page number and reference. This is not necessary at the bottom, two lines are sufficient.

2. The following classifications are used in NATO:

N	A	~	0		U	N	C	L	A	S	S	I	F	I	Ξ	D
	N	Å	T	0									T.			
N	A	T	0		С	0	7	F	Ĩ	D	-	.1	T	T	Ä	L
			И	A	T ()	_	3	Ξ	C	R	Ξ	T			
<u>C</u>	0	S	1	Ι	C_		Ţ	0	5				2 (2_F	रः	ET

The lowest classification is UNCLASSIFIED, the highest CCSMIC TOP SECRET.

3. Annexes and Appendices may be classified <u>LOWER</u> than the document, but <u>NEVER HIGHER</u>.

NATO <u>UNCLASSIFIED</u>

-3-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

:

とうないには、ここのであるとうと、 とうま たいかいのもの

PARAGRAPHS AND SUB-PARAGRAPHS

Indent at 5 for paragraph numbers, at <u>10</u> for text, then back to the margin. First paragraph on cover page <u>not</u> to be numbered, except when this paragraph is sub-divided into (a), (b) or (1), (2), etc. <u>First paragraph of an Annex or an</u> <u>Appendix does get a paragraph number, provided the other</u> <u>paragraphs are numbered</u>.

2. Then a paragraph is sub-divided into (a), (b), etc. or (1), (2), etc. these letters or figures are blocked at $\underline{5}$ and text at $\underline{10}$, e.g.:

(a) during the;

(b) nothing was said;

or

- (1) during the;
- (2) nothing was said

3. Small Roman figures commence at <u>10</u> and paragraph blocked at <u>15</u>, e.g.:

- (1) during the;
- (ii) nothing was said;
- (iii) etc.

FOUTNOTES

To be typed before bottom classification, but below NATO, 1110 Brussels.

REFERENCES

1. The word Document appears only on FIRST PAGE (COVER PAGE e.g.:

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-4-

On following pages type only classification, page number and reference number, e.g.:

NIAG-D(82)3

2. However, Corrigendum, Annex, Appendix and Addendum to a document on <u>ALL PAGES</u> (in capitals).

3. No spaces must be left in NATO references.

4. Reference number on a <u>RECTO PAGE</u> to be typed on the <u>righthand</u> side; on a <u>VERSO PAGE</u> on the <u>lefthand</u> side.

TABLES

If necessary to use the paper <u>sideways reference</u> to be typed at righthand margin whether recto or verso.

MISCELLATEOUS POINTS

Do not carry over just two lines or leave two lines at the bottom of a page.

The following words take an initial capital when referring to a specific one, in all other cases with small:

Authority	Government	Delegation
Representative	luestionnaire	Draft Report.

Solitting of words

DO NOT SPLIT WORDS UNLESS UNAVOIDABLE.

Correcting of documents

PLEASE PAY PARTICULAR ATTENTION TO CORRECTIONS. It is most important that the whole word be completely obliterated before the correction is made.

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

いたけながっていないです。 泉田のであったり、ちんけい地震になっていた。 アイント・ファイト

٠.

.

.

100

Grammar and Punctuation

Solitting of day, month and year:

CORRECT: 1st January. 1974. 1st and 2nd January, 1974. 1st and 2nd January, 1974. Incorrect 1st January, 1974. 1st and 2rd January, 1974. When typing month and year only (April 1974) no comma is required. After a full stop leave: two spaces After a colon leave: two spaces After a semi-colon leave: one space After a comma leave: one space Communiqué, régime, rôle and détente to be typed with an accent. Communist always typed with a capital "C" Communist bloc always small "b" Joviet Zone of Germany always capital "Z" NATO Military Authorities always capitals "M" and " λ " converter adviser generator <u> setre</u> materi<u>a</u>l materiel AND copy original

discrete AND discreet copy original

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-6-

INPHENATED CORDS -6above-mentioned all-weather (adj.) anti-aircraft air-conditioned build-up Chiefs-of-Staff co-a::ial co-operation co-ordination ocunter-espionage counter-countermeasures end-itez end-1933 fire-fighting half-track infra-red long-range long-term aid-surmer 21d-1975 pre-war 50st-1970 short-range Sub-Group short-term Vice-Chaiman vell-imoum world-inda

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-6-

-7-

sareguarding

seeboine shortfall standby

ta::itrack thermonuclear

throughout

timeirame

tomorrow

undercarriage

unilateral

wartine wavelergin

underdeveloped

today

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

なない おうちょう こうごうかんしょう

- -

.....

SEPARATE WORDS

none the less

in so far as

0171 107.0

atropace

bencirdeth
bilateral
blackout
break iota

centreline coemistence collocation countermeasures coefficient

fallout focdstalls

guideline

inshore inasmuch as

layout

nanpower multilateral

offset offshore overall

peacetime pipeline

radioactive (ity) relocation reorganization

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-7-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-8-

.

Abbreviations

The following aboreviations can be used throughout the text, but the aboreviation <u>MUST</u> be spelt out in full the first time it is used.

1.	NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organization
2.	SHAPE	Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers Europe
3.	SACEUR	Supreme Allied Commander, Europe
4.	SACLANT	Supreme Allied Commander, Atlantic
5.	CINCHAN	Commander-in-Chief, Channel
б.	ACE	Allied Command Europe
7.	: INC s	Major NATO Commanders
8.	MC	Military Committee
9.	STC	SHAPE Technical Centre (The Hague)
10.	IAU	Infrastructure Accounting Unit
11.	ICB	International Competitive Bidding
12.	STANAG	Standardization Agreement
13.	NADGE	NATO Air Defence Ground Environment
14.	R&D	Research and Development
15.	TOSE	Tables of Organization and Equipment
15.	C&M	Organization and Method
17.	ICBM	Inter-Continental Ballistic Missile
18.	HQ	Headquarters
19.	THC	War Headquarters
20.	SAMS	Surface-to-Air Missiles
21.	CNAD	Conference of National Armaments Directors
22.	NICSMA	NATO Integrated Communications Systems Management Agency

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

2

27

.

. .

۱.,

1

CURRENCY		
Belgium	3.17.	Belgian Trancs
Cenada	0	Canadian dollars
Denmark		Senish Eroners
France	T	French francs
Greece)r.	Drachzas
Germany	D:1.	Deutschmark
Italy	It.l.	Italian lira
Luxeabourg	* 1,100 - Mus Artus (2 - 2 - 1	Luxenbourg francs
Netherlands	20.	Dutch guilders
Norway	Heler.	Norwegian kroners
Portugal Spain Turkey	<pre>Isc. and the dollar sign - e.g. 100,0005000 Fes. If or IL (copy original)</pre>	Pesetas
United Hingdom	£	Pounds Sterling
United States	\$	United States dollars
NOTE: 2 and 3 e.g.:	have no space between sig 21,000 \$1,000	n and figure,
Others e.g.:	are typed with a space bet DN, 1,000	ween sign and figure,

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-9-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-10-

<u>375311213</u>

<u>ATE UNCLASSIFIED</u>

CRIGINAL: ENGLISH

ECCUMENT MIAG(22)D/3 AC/141(F0/23)D/11

text

(Signed) A.D. BROWN

NATO, 1110 Brussels.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

JATO RESTRICTED

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH <u>31st July, 1932</u>

DOCUMENT NIAC(32)D/2 AC/141(FG/24)D/11

_ - -

text

(Signed) A.D. BROWN

NATO, 1110 Erussels.

This document includes: 1 Annex

(1) Footnote

HATO RESTRICTED

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-10-

-11-

NATO CONFIDENTIAL

CRIGINAL: ENGLISH

.

DCCUMENT NIAC(52)D/2 AC/141(FC/25)D/11

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

.

.

text

(Signed)

NATO, 1110 Brussels.

This document includes: 2 Annexes

HATO CONFIDENTIAL

NATO SECRET

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH 31st July, 1982 DOCUMENT NIAG(82)D/2 AC/141(PG/23)D/11

text

(Signed)

MATO, 1110 Brussels.

This document consists of: 6 pages Annex I of: 13 pages Annex IIof: 2 pages Annex III of: 1 page etc. <u>HATO SECRET</u>

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-11-



ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

「「「「「「「「「」」」とないういです」と

5

REFERENCE DATE

PAPER TITLE

 $\frac{PART}{I}$

INTRODUCTION

1. First Paragraph

(a) First sub paragraph

(1) First sub-sub paragraph

Side Heading

2. Second Paragraph

- (a) <u>Text</u>
- (b) Text
- (c) Text
 - (1) Sub-sub paragraph
 - (11) Sub-sub paragraph

3. Third Paragraph

PART II

MAIN BODY

4. Fourth Paragraph

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-13-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-14-

PART

II

PAGE LIMITS

1. <u>Executive Summary</u>. This is to consist of pages.

2. <u>Team Reports</u>. These will consist of pages of text and up to pages of Annexes.

PART

III

REPORT FORMAT

- 3. All reports are to use the following format.
- 4. <u>Parts</u>. The text may be divided into Parts which should be numbered in ROMAN NUMERALS with a title in the centre of the page:

a. PART

Ι

SPECIMEN PART

- 5. <u>Paragraphs</u>. This will be numbered sequentially throughout the report using ARABIC NUMERALS. If a title is used it should be underlined and placed next to the number if governing one paragraph. In each case the title wall be initial capitals underlined:
 - 10. Paragraph Heading

Side Heading

- 11. Further Paragraphs
- 12. More Paragraphs
- 6. <u>Sub-Paragraphs</u>. These will be inset 1 cm. or $\frac{1}{2}$ ^w and be lettered in small print:
 - a. <u>Sub-paragraph</u>
 - b. Sub-sub paragraph. These will:
 - (1) be inset 2 cm. or 1"
 - (11) use italic numbers in brackets
 - (iii) both sub and sub-sub paragraphs may use side and paragraph headings.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-14-



CATGINAL: UNGLIER 11 Ch. July 1. 10 100171111 10/2(FP)D/1234 ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

<u> 211GLISII CUPILIG POOL</u>

ILDERUCTICUS FOR STOTIUS CUD A DOCUTINE

(OR "HOW TO ITEP COOL IN THE POOL")

Note by the Potential Decreteries(1)

There were two men walking along the road and one said to the other, "That's strange - you've got a black shoe on one foot and a brown one on the other". "Strange!" "Shat's strange about it?" "I've got another pair at home."

2. With reference to the above paragraph, you are invited to:

- (a) laugh; or
- (b) think of a better one yourcelf.

5. The above "joke" was contributed by one of our most promising PJs, who wishes to remain anonymous.

(Signed) General MALAISE Head, Lobotomy Section

NATO, 1110 Brucopic.

(1) Not here, but elsewhere in the text, we are referred to 13 "Hos"

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-15-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

-16-

-<u>`</u>~

A funny thing happened on the way to the undertaker ... when retired backelor Henry Pulling, with the urn containing his mother's aches under his arm, met up with his 75-year-old, notso-maiden Aunt Augusta. Starting at Aunt Augusta's house for tes, this unlikely team begins a ceries of hilarious adventures then Aunt Augusta's current lover, a husky young African nemed Mordsworth, stashes some very good marijuana in with dear old Nordsworth, stashes usefore the police raid the premises.

From London to Fariz, Istanbul to Paraguay, Aunt Augusta belly-dances and cmuggles gold with cheerful professionalism, while Henry turns on to pot, adventure and life.

NATO UNCLASSIFIED

-16-





-19-

ANNEX E to NIAG-D(88)15

Other Considerations

- 7. Pages will be numbered at the middle top of the page.
- 8. Classification will be at top and bottom of each sheet.
- 9. Single spacing will be used throughout.
- 10. The reference and date will appear in the top right hand corner of the first page.
- 11. Each document will carry a part index.
- 12. <u>Annexes</u> will be in capitals ANNEX A AND MAIN DOCUMENT REFERENCE.
- 13. <u>ANNEXURES</u> will be in roman capitals and refer to the Annex.

ANNEXURE I TO ANNEX A MAIN DOCUMENT REFERENCE

14. <u>Figures/Diagrams</u> should form Annex where possible but 11 in text are to be numbered sequentially throughout and include page no.

(a) FIG. 10 p.9

- 15. <u>Tables</u> will invariably form part of an Annex and be referred to in the text.
- 16. <u>Example</u>